BEFORE THE
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION



Maria Povacz						:
							:
	v.						:		C-2015-2475023
							:
PECO Energy Company				:



ORDER SUSTAINING IN PART AND OVERRULING IN PART 
PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS TO AMENDED COMPLAINT


INTRODUCTION

		A residential customer filed a complaint and an amended complaint seeking to prevent an electric distribution company (EDC) from attaching a smart meter to her residence.  The Preliminary Objections to Amended Complaint will be sustained in part and overruled in part because under the current law in Pennsylvania, there is no customer “opt out” option for smart meters and the EDC is required to deploy and install smart meters in accordance with its Commission-approved Smart Meter Plan as of May 6, 2010.  To the extent the customer wishes to opt out of the smart meter installation, she should advocate for such ability before the General Assembly of Pennsylvania.  The Commission has no authority, absent a directive in the form of legislation, to prohibit the EDC from installing a smart meter where a customer does not want one.  

		The only issues proceeding to Mediation Unit for mediation review are as follows: 1) whether Complainant is entitled to a stay of termination based upon a medical certification; 2) whether PECO Energy Company complied with the Commission’s regulations and the statutory provisions of Chapter 14 of the Public Utility Code regarding the handling of Complainant’s medical certificate; and 3) whether Respondent’s service is reasonable in compliance with 66 Pa. C.S. §1501. 


PROCEDURAL HISTORY

		On March 28, 2015, Maria Povacz (Complainant or Ms. Povacz) filed a formal Complaint (Complaint) with the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) against PECO Energy Company (Respondent or PECO) alleging that Respondent was threatening to terminate her service.  On April 4, 2015[footnoteRef:1], the Complaint was served upon Respondent. On April 9, 2015, Respondent timely filed an Answer and New Matter denying violation of any statute, rule, or order.  Also on April 9, 2015, Respondent filed Preliminary Objections contending that the Complaint is legally insufficient pursuant to 52 Pa.Code § 5.101(a)(4) and requesting dismissal of the Complaint. [1:  	PECO signed a waiver of the Section 702 requirement for registered or certified mail service of formal complaints, 66 Pa. C.S. § 702, and agreed to electronic service under the Commission’s waiver of 702 program.  See In Re: Electronic Service of Formal Complaints, Secretarial Letter Dated December 22, 2014, at Docket Nos. M-2013-2398153 et al. Service is listed in the electronic Audit History of the case as entered by the Secretary’s Bureau as having been effected on April 4, 2015. ] 


		On April 18, 2015, Complainant filed a timely answer to Respondent’s Preliminary Objections.  In her Answer, the complainant reiterated the allegations in her Complaint and set forth a variety of new allegations including violations of various federal and state laws and Commission regulations including but not limited to 66 Pa. C.S. §§ 1501 (regarding reasonable service); 1406(f) (regarding medical certification); 52 Pa.Code §§ 56.201 (regarding public information); and 57.259 (regarding consumer education on advanced metering) regulations.  

		By notice dated April 28, 2015, the Commission notified the parties that it had assigned the case to me as motion judge.   Because Complainant’s allegations were not raised in Complainant’s initial Complaint, by Order dated May 29, 2015, I treated the Answer to Preliminary Objections as an amended complaint pursuant to 52 § 5.91(a), deemed Respondent’s Preliminary Objections moot in accordance with 52 §§ 5.91(b), and allowed Respondent twenty days to respond.  

		On June 18, 2015, Respondent filed Preliminary Objections and an Answer to the Amended Complaint.  

		The New Matter states that Act 129 of 2008 directed the Respondent and other electric distribution companies to file smart meter procurement and installation plans with the Commission.  The Respondent filed a smart meter procurement and installation plan on August 14, 2009 with the Commission which was approved by Commission order entered May 6, 2010, at docket number M-2009-2123944.  The New Matter contends that the Respondent is required to install smart meters throughout its service territory and that neither Act 129 nor any Commission order provide for the ability of customers to opt out of having a smart meter installed.  The Answer and New Matter request that the Commission dismiss the Complaint.

		Also on June 18, 2015, Respondent filed Preliminary Objections.  The Preliminary Objections contend that the Complaint is legally insufficient pursuant to 52 Pa.Code § 5.101(a)(4).  The Preliminary Objections assert that the Respondent is installing smart meters in compliance with Act 129 of 2008 and the Commission’s order approving the Respondent’s smart meter procurement and installation plan.  The Preliminary Objections further assert that although the Complainant wants to opt out of having a smart meter installed for health reasons, she may not opt out and is subject to termination of service for refusing access to her meter and installation of a smart meter.  

		The Preliminary Objections concede that there may be one issue with regard to the medical certificate in dispute; however the amended complaint is generally legally insufficient and Respondent is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  The Preliminary Objections request that the Commission dismiss the complaint. 

		This matter is ripe for a decision.  For the reasons set forth below, I will sustain the Preliminary Objections in part and overrule the Preliminary Objections in part.

DISPOSITION

		Preliminary objections are appropriate under Commission regulations.  52 Pa. Code §5.101.  Commission preliminary objection practice is similar to Pennsylvania civil practice respecting the filing of preliminary objections.  Equitable Small Transportation Interveners v. Equitable Gas Company, 1994 Pa. PUC LEXIS 69, PUC Docket No. C-000935435 (July 18, 1994).

	Preliminary objections are limited to the following:

§ 5.101.  Preliminary objections.

(a)	Grounds.  Preliminary objections are available to parties and may be filed in response to a pleading except motions and prior preliminary objections.  Preliminary objections must be accompanied by a notice to plead, must state specifically the legal and factual grounds relied upon and be limited to the following:

(1) 	Lack of Commission jurisdiction or improper service of the pleading initiating the proceeding.

(2) 	Failure of a pleading to conform to this chapter or the inclusion of scandalous or impertinent matter.

(3) 	Insufficient specificity of a pleading.

(4) 	Legal insufficiency of a pleading.

(5) 	Lack of capacity to sue, nonjoinder of a necessary party or misjoinder of a cause of action.

(6) 	Pendency of a prior proceeding or agreement for alternative dispute resolution.

(7)	Standing of a party to participate in the proceeding

* * * 

52 Pa. Code § 5.101(a).

		When considering the preliminary objection, the Commission must determine “whether the law says with certainty, based on well-pleading factual averments . . . that no recovery or relief is possible.”  P. J. S. v. Pa. State Ethics Commission, 669 A.2d 1105 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1996).  Any doubt must be resolved in favor of the non-moving party by refusing to sustain the preliminary objections.  Boyd v. Ward, 802 A.2d 705 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2002).  Dept. of Auditor General, et al. v. State Employees’ Retirement System, et al., 836 A.2d 1053, 1064 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2003).

Preliminary objections in civil practice requesting dismissal of a pleading will be granted only where the right to relief is clearly warranted and free from doubt.  Interstate Traveller Services, Inc. v. Pa. Dept. of Environment Resources, 406 A.2d 1020 (Pa. 1979); Rivera v. Philadelphia Theological Seminary of St. Charles Borromeo, Inc., 595 A.2d 172 (Pa. Super 1991).  The Commission follows this standard.  Montague v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 66 Pa.PUC 24 (1988).

Viewing the Complaint in the instant case in the light most favorable to the Complainant, the Amended Complainant is essentially the same cause of action filed previously on July 13, 2012, Maria Povacz v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. C-2012-2317176, Opinion and Order entered January 23, 2014.  The Commission dismissed Complainant’s complaint with prejudice on January 23, 2014, finding that PECO’s installation of smart meters was consistent with, rather than a violation of, the Public Utility Code, a Commission Regulation or Order.   Id. at 10. In the instant case, Complainant again requests permission to opt out of a smart meter installation at her residence for health, privacy, and safety reasons.  The only difference in the instant Complaint is that Complainant offers evidence of a signed medical certificate showing she is sensitive to electromagnetic waves emitted by smart meters.  

Section 2807 of the Public Utility Code provides in pertinent part:

Smart meter technology and time of use rates. –

			* * *

(2) Electric distribution companies shall furnish smart meter technology as 			follows:
(i) upon request from a customer that agrees to pay the cost of the smart meter at 			the time of the request.
(ii) in new building construction
(iii) in accordance with a depreciation schedule not to exceed 15 years.

66 Pa. C.S. §2807(f)(2)(emphasis added).  The use of the word “shall” in the statute indicates the General Assembly’s direction that all customers will receive a smart meter.  Further, there is no provision in the statute allowing a customer to “opt out” of smart meter installation, as Ms. Povacz desires.

On October 15, 2008, Governor Edward G. Rendell signed Act 129 of 2008 into law, which directed electric distribution companies with at least 100,000 customers to file, with the Commission, a smart meter deployment and installation plan.  Thus, there is a statute requiring smart meter deployment by large electric distribution companies operating within the Commonwealth.  66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(f).    On August 14, 2009, the Respondent filed with the Commission a Petition for Approval of its Smart Meter Technology Procurement and Installation Plan, which was the subject of a publicly litigated proceeding.  Many parties with varying interests evaluated and discussed issues raised by the installation and recovery of costs for smart meters, including privacy issues and third party access to data.  

		The Commission approved the Respondent’s Smart Meter Plan by order entered May 6, 2010.  There is neither an “opt-out” provision nor a requirement to perform onsite broadcasting tests provided for in the Commission’s order.  The implementation of the Respondent’s Smart Meter Deployment Plan and the approval of the costs associated with its implementation have been found by the Commission to be in accordance with Act 129 of 2008, 66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(f).   The Respondent is required by statute and Commission Order to implement a Smart Meter Program, install smart meters throughout is service territory, and to charge a SMT Surcharge to all of its metered customers.  

To the extent that Ms. Povacz desires the ability to opt out of the smart meter installation, she should advocate for such ability before the General Assembly.  The Commission simply does not have the authority, absent a directive in the form of legislation, to prohibit the Respondent from installing a smart meter where a customer does not want one.  Similarly, the Respondent would be in violation of law if it did not install a smart meter at the Complainant’s residence.  The Commission cannot grant the relief of precluding PECO from installing a smart meter upon the service property as requested by the Complainant.

The Commission reached a similar conclusion in the case of Gloria Corbett v. Pennsylvania Power Company, Docket No. C-2011-2219898, (Final Order entered May 27, 2011), wherein the Complainant objected to the installation of smart meters at her two properties in Mercer County.  The Commission sustained Pennsylvania Power’s Preliminary Objection to the Complaint holding that the Complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  See also Richard Negley v. Metropolitan Edison Company , Docket No. C-2010-2205305, (Final Order entered March 3, 2011).  See also Lutherschmidt v. Metropolitan Edison Company, Docket No. C‑2010‑2200353 (Final Order issued March 25, 2011); Jones v. Metropolitan Edison Company, Docket No. C‑2011-2224380 (Final Order entered June 28, 2011); Griffin v. Metropolitan Edison Company, Docket No. C-2012-2300172 (Final Order entered July 31, 2012); Brake v. West Penn Power Company, Docket No. C-2013-2367308 (Final Order entered November 14, 2013).  Additionally, in Povacz v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. C-2012-2317176 (Opinion and Order entered January 24, 2013), the Commission stated there is no statutory provision, regulation, or order that allows a customer to opt out of smart meter installation.

Although the Complainant is genuine in her concerns, the Commission’s decisions cited above are controlling.  Because Act 129 of 2008 and the Commission’s orders direct the Respondent to develop and implement a smart meter procurement and installation plan and because there is no opt out provision either in the Act or the Commission’s orders, the claim is stricken under res judicata.

Complainant avers that PECO violated the constitution, bill of rights, fourth amendment, paragraphs 5, 6, and 7 of the Privacy Act of 1974, 15 USC Section 45, and 18 USC Part 1, Chps. 7 and 119, Wiretapping.  It is well-settled that the Commission cannot exceed its jurisdiction and must act within it.  City of Pittsburgh v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 43 A.2d 348 (Pa. Super. 1945) (Pittsburgh).   Jurisdiction may not be conferred by the parties where none exists.  Roberts v. Martorano, 235 A.2d 602 (Pa. 1967) (Roberts).  

This Commission does not have jurisdiction to determine whether a Complainant’s rights are being violated under the First, Fourth, or Fifth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution.  The Commission lacks subject matter jurisdiction over criminal matters including those stemming from the Fifth Amendment.  See Scheidly v. PECO Energy Co., 2006 WL 2620455, PUC (2006).   The Commission does not have the authority or jurisdiction to find a violation of 15 USC Section 45 (Privacy Act of 1974).  The Commission has no authority to find a company in violation of the criminal offense of wiretapping at USC Title 18, Part 1, Chapter 1, 7 or 119.  

The Commission is not a federal court of law, designed to make such determinations regarding violations of civil liberties.  See also, Mid-Atlantic Power Supply Assoc. v. PECO Energy Co., Docket No. P-00981615, 1999 Pa PUC LEXIS 30 (entered May 19, 1999) (MAPSA) (wherein the Commission lacked jurisdiction to find a violation of the Federal Unfair Trade Practices Act).  

The Commission lacks subject matter jurisdiction over felony criminal matters.  McClellan v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 634 A.2d 686 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1933).    Civil remedies and criminal prosecutions are exclusive judicial remedies and this Commission does not have jurisdiction to provide Complainant with those remedies requested.
 
PECO concedes on page 8 of its Preliminary Objections that the only issue that should proceed to hearing should pertain to whether the Complainant is entitled to a stay of termination for a valid medical certificate and whether the company complied with the law regarding the handling of medical certificates and staying termination proceedings.  I agree that this is an issue that may proceed to litigation.  Whether the letter attached to the amended complaint is sufficient to qualify as a medical certification to warrant a stay of termination of service is an issue that will be referred to mediation.

Additionally, the amended complaint alleges inadequate service on the part of Respondent.  If Complainant’s allegations are proven by a preponderance of evidence at a hearing, they may well constitute a violation of the provisions of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501; rendering less than adequate service.  Honey Brook Water Co. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 647 A.2d 653 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1994), app. Denied, 655 A.2d 518 (Pa. 1995).  Respondent may ultimately face a civil penalty if Complainant bears its burden of proving inadequate service.   Thus, the reasonableness of service under Section 1501 is an issue that will be referred to mediation because the Commission has jurisdiction over service disputes between customers and utilities.  

It appears the other issues have already been decided in the January 23, 2015 Opinion and Order of this Commission.  The doctrine of res judicata provides that a final judgment on the merits by a court of competent jurisdiction will bar any future action on the same cause of action between the parties and their privies.  Hopewell Estates, Inc. v. Kent, 646 A.2d 1192 (Pa. Super. 1994).  Four conditions must be met including: 1) identity of issues; 2) identity of causes of action; 3) identity of persons and parties to the action; and 4) identity of the quality and capacity of the parties suing or sued.  Day v. Volkswagenwerk Aktienqesellschaft, 474 A.2d 1313 (Pa. Super. 1983).  In accordance with the principles of res judicata, the other claims are stricken from the Complaint, and the remaining issue as to whether there was valid medical certification provided to Respondent, and whether Respondent is complying with the provisions of Chapter 14 of the Public Utility Code with regard to notice of termination and medical certification shall be referred to the Mediation Unit for mediation review.  There remains a legally sufficient issue of whether Complainant is entitled to a stay of termination based upon a medical certification, which shall be referred to the Mediation Unit for mediation review.

		Complainant is cautioned that she carries the burden of showing that the named utility is responsible or accountable for the problem described in the Complaint as amended by her response in order to prevail.  Patterson v. Bell Telephone Company of Pennsylvania, 72 Pa. PUC 196 (1990); Feinstein v. Philadelphia Suburban Water Company, 50 Pa. PUC 300 (1976).  This must be shown by a preponderance of evidence.  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa Pub. Util. Comm’n, 578 A.2d 600 (1990), alloc. den., 602 A.2d 863 (1992).   Additionally, the offense must be a violation of the Public Utility Code, the Commission’s regulations, or an order of the Commission.  66 Pa. C.S. § 701.


ORDER


THEREFORE,

IT IS ORDERED:

1.	That the Preliminary Objections filed by PECO Energy Company seeking dismissal of the Complaint filed by Maria Povacz at Docket No. C-2015-2475023 are sustained in part and overruled in part.

		2.	That the only issues referred to Mediation Unit for mediation review are as follows: a) whether Complainant is entitled to a stay of termination based upon a medical certificate; b) whether PECO Energy Company followed the Commission’s regulations and the statutory provisions of Chapter 14 of the Public Utility Code regarding Complainant’s medical certificate; and c) whether Respondent’s service is reasonable in compliance with 66 Pa. C.S. §1501. 

3.	That all other claims are hereby stricken pursuant to the doctrine of res judicata.


Date: June 30, 2015										
							Elizabeth H. Barnes
							Administrative Law Judge
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